Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 1 of 37

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-31-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP1144-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v. DAWN J. LEVANDUSKI,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY VAN AKKEREN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JEFFREY A. SISLEY Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1000017

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The defendant-respondent Dawn J. Levanduski was arrested for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI), and an officer requested a blood sample from her under the implied consent law. The officer read her the Informing the Accused form which told her that if she refused, her operating privilege would be revoked, and her refusal could be used against her in court. Levanduski agreed to give a blood sample.

1. By telling a person that a refusal to submit to a request for a blood draw can be used against the person in court, does the Informing the Accused form render the person's consent to a blood draw involuntary?

The circuit court answered "yes" and granted Levanduski's motion to suppress the results of a test of her blood. The court reasoned that under *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013) and *State v. Dalton*, 2018 WI 85, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120, a person has a constitutional right to refuse a blood draw. And because a person's invocation of a constitutional right may not be used against her, Levanduski's consent to a blood draw after being told her refusal could be used against her was involuntary.

This Court should answer "no" and reverse. *Birchfield* v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016) and Dalton make clear that a State may threaten that a person's operating privilege will be revoked and that a refusal could be used against the person in court, and it may impose those civil penalties and evidentiary consequences for refusing a blood draw. Levanduski was properly warned that a refusal could be used against her in court, and her consent to a blood draw was voluntary.

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 7 of 37

2. Is there a constitutional right to refuse a blood draw when a person is threatened with only civil penalties and evidentiary consequences, but not criminal penalties, for a refusal?

The circuit court answered "yes," concluding that under *McNeely* and *Dalton*, there is a constitutional right to refuse a blood draw.

This Court should answer "no." In *South Dakota v. Neville*, 459 U.S. 553 (1983), the Supreme Court made clear that there is no constitutional right to refuse a lawful request for a blood sample under an implied consent law. In *Birchfield*, the Court may have limited *Neville* by recognizing a right to refuse when a person is threatened with criminal penalties for refusing—because that is a threat of an unlawful search. But the Supreme Court reaffirmed that a State can threaten a person with revocation of his or her operating privilege and with use of a refusal against the person in court, and it may impose those civil penalties and evidentiary consequences for a refusal. When those are the penalties and consequences, there is no constitutional right to refuse.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-appellant, State of Wisconsin, does not request oral argument. The State believes that publication of this Court's opinion is warranted, because the issues in this case have been raised in suppression motions throughout Wisconsin, and circuit courts need guidance in how to decide them.

INTRODUCTION

Levanduski submitted to an officer's request for a blood draw under Wisconsin's implied consent law after the officer read her the Informing the Accused form, telling her that if Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 8 of 37

she refused, her operating privilege would be revoked, and her refusal can be used against her in court.

The circuit court suppressed the results of a test of Levanduski's blood. Relying primarily on *McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 and *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, the court concluded that Levanduski had a constitutional right to refuse a blood draw, so her consent after she was told her refusal could be used against her in court was involuntary.

But the opposite is true. As the Court explained in *Birchfield*, the State may not impose criminal penalties for refusing a blood draw. A person who is threatened with criminal penalties for refusing is threatened with an unlawful search. There may be a constitutional right to refuse a blood draw under those circumstances.

But *Birchfield* confirmed that a State may threaten that the person's operating privilege will be revoked and that a refusal used against the person in court, and it may impose those civil penalties and evidentiary consequences for a refusal. And *Dalton* cited *Birchfield* for that proposition.

There is no general constitutional right to refuse a blood draw. A State may threaten that if a person refuses a test, it will revoke the person's operating privilege and use the refusal against the person in court. A person who is threatened with only those penalties and consequences for refusing is not threatened with an unlawful search. A person has no constitutional right to refuse a blood draw under those circumstances.

Levanduski was correctly informed that her refusal could be used against her in court, and she agreed to a blood draw. Her consent was not coerced or involuntary, and this Court should reverse the circuit court's order granting her motion to suppress evidence of her blood test.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Although not explicitly stated in the record, there are no factual disputes. The probable cause portion of the Amended Criminal Complaint stated

Complainant alleges that on May 24, 2018 at approximately 5:53 p.m., Officer Caswell, Sergeant Ramthun and Officer Depies were dispatched to the Kwik Trip located at 750 East Green Bay Avenue in the Village of Saukville, Ozaukee County, Wisconsin. They were sent there for the report of an intoxicated female attempting to get gas. A description of the female and her vehicle were given. The female suspect was said to be in the store buying a hamburger and she urinated herself.

When Officer Depies arrived he found the described female in the driver's seat of the described vehicle with the engine running and eating a hamburger. That female was the defendant Dawn Levanduski. She had a strong odor of intoxicants emanating from her breath, slurred speech and glassy eyes. Officer Depies asked her if she had anything to drink and the defendant ultimately said three pint size beers. She admitted to driving to Kwik Trip. Officer Caswell also obtained video surveillance recordings of the defendant arriving at Kwik Trip driving her vehicle.

The defendant was asked to step out of her vehicle and walk to the rear of her vehicle. She had a lack of balance and swayed while standing. She also had a wet area in the crotch of her shorts. She performed field sobriety tests. In a horizontal gaze nystagmus test, Officer Depies observed the lack of smooth pursuit in both eyes, jerkiness at maximum deviation in both eyes and the onset of jerkiness prior to 45 degrees in both eyes. In a walk and turn test, Officer Depies observed that the defendant could not keep balance while listening to instructions, did not touch heel to toe and stepped off the line. In a one leg stand test, Officer Depies observed the defendant put her foot down three times as she lost her balance.

The defendant was arrested for Operating while Intoxicated and taken to Aurora Medical Center in Grafton for a blood draw. She consented to the draw and a sample of her blood was taken. It was packaged for delivery to the state lab of hygiene. The Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene analyzed the Defendant's blood and the lab report stated that the Defendant had a blood alcohol content of 0.269.

(R. 9:1-3, A-App. 101-103.)

The defendant's motion contained the facts related to the reading of the Informing the Accused form:

At the time of the request for the evidentiary blood draw pursuant to the OWI arrest for OWI Second Offense by Officer Brandin Depies of the Saukville PD on May 24, 2018 at 6:25 p.m., Officer Depies read the defendant the Informing the Accused and asked the defendant whether she would submit to a blood draw. In the informing the accused, the officer read to the defendant that: "If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court." The defendant responded that she will consent to the blood draw after being apprised of this information by the police officer.

(R. 10:2, A-App. 105.)

The State charged Levanduski with OWI as a second offense. (R. 9:1, A-App. 101-103.) She moved to suppress the blood test results on the ground that her consent to the blood draw was involuntary. (R. 10:1-5, A-App. 104-108.) She argued that when Officer Depies read her the Informing the Accused form, he threatened that if she refused to provide a blood sample, her refusal could be used against her in court in violation of her constitutional right to refuse a blood draw. (R. 10:1-5, A-App. 104-108.)

The circuit court, Reserve Judge Timothy M. Van Akkeren presiding, granted Levanduski's motion after briefing. (R. 13:1-2, A-App. 119-120.) The court concluded that Levanduski's consent to provide a blood sample was involuntary because the officer incorrectly told her that a

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 11 of 37

refusal could be used against her in court. (R. 21:7-9, A-App. 115-117.) The court suppressed all evidence derived from the blood draw. (R. 13:1-2, A-App. 119-120.)

The State now appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews an order granting a motion to suppress under a two-step analysis. *State v. Robinson*, 2009 WI App 97, ¶ 9, 320 Wis. 2d 689, 770 N.W.2d 721. This Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Under the clearly erroneous standard, appellate courts will uphold a circuit court's finding of fact unless the finding goes "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (quoting *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 21 n.7, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277)). The application of constitutional principles to the facts found presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Robinson*, 320 Wis. 2d 689, ¶ 9.

A court applies the same two-step standard of review when determining whether consent to search was voluntary, *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 23, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. It reviews the circuit court's findings of historical fact to determine if they are clearly erroneous, and independently applies those facts to constitutional principles. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

- I. Because the Informing the Accused form did not invalidate Levanduski's consent, the circuit court erred in granting her motion to suppress her blood test results.
 - A. Under binding precedent of the United States Supreme Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the State may use a person's refusal to submit to a lawful request for a blood sample against the person in court.

Under long-settled law, when a person refuses to submit to an officer's lawful request for a blood sample under an implied consent law like Wisconsin's—which does not criminalize refusal—the State may use the refusal against the person in court to prove the person guilty of an OWI-related offense.

In South Dakota v. Neville, the United States Supreme Court held that a State may use a person's refusal in court, explaining that "a refusal to take a blood-alcohol test, after a police officer has lawfully requested it, is not an act coerced by the officer, and thus is not protected by the privilege against self-incrimination." South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 564 (1983) (footnote omitted). The Court said that a refusal can be used against a person in court because "a person suspected of drunk driving has no constitutional right to refuse to take a blood-alcohol test." Id. at 560 n.10.

In *State v. Bolstad*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reached the same conclusion, explaining that "[t]he state may submit the relevant and, hence, admissible evidence that Bolstad refused the test for blood alcohol content. That refusal evidence is relevant, because it makes more probable the crucial fact of intoxication." *State v. Bolstad*, 124 Wis. 2d 576, 585, 370 N.W.2d 257 (1985).

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 13 of 37

In *State v. Zielke*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court said that "the fact of the defendant's refusal to submit to a test may be introduced at trial on the substantive drunk driving offense as a means of showing consciousness of guilt," so long as the person has been advised of the information on the Informing the Accused form. *State v. Zielke*, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 49–51, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987).

More recent United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin cases have confirmed *Neville*'s holding that a person's refusal may be used against the person in court.

In *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141 (2013), the Supreme Court noted that "States have a broad range of legal tools to enforce their drunk-driving laws and to secure BAC evidence without undertaking warrantless nonconsensual blood draws," including "implied consent laws that require motorists, as a condition of operating a motor vehicle within the State, to consent to BAC testing if they are arrested or otherwise detained on suspicion of a drunk-driving offense." Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 160–61 (2013). The Court said that "[s]uch laws impose significant consequences when a motorist withdraws consent; typically the motorist's driver's license is immediately suspended or revoked, and most States allow the motorist's refusal to take a BAC test to be used as evidence against him in a subsequent criminal prosecution." *Id.* at 161. For that proposition, the Court relied on *Neville* as "holding that the use of such an adverse inference does not violate the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination." *Id.* (citing *Neville*, 459 U.S. at 563–64).

In *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, the Supreme Court again affirmed that a person's refusal can be used against him in court, 136 S. Ct. at 2185. The Court said: "Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply." *Id.* It cited *McNeely*, where the Court had noted that implied consent law

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 14 of 37

typically impose immediate suspension or revocation of a driver's license for refusal (civil penalties) and allow the refusal to be used against the person in a subsequent criminal prosecution (evidentiary consequences). *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2185 (citing *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 161). The opinion also cited *Neville*, where the Court spoke of implied consent laws allowing revocation of a person's license to drive for refusal (civil penalties) and the use of the refusal to be used against the defendant at trial (evidentiary consequences). *Id.* (citing *Neville*, 459 U.S at 560). The Court in *Birchfield* said that "nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on" implied consent laws that impose only civil penalties and evidentiary consequences for refusal. *Id.* at 2185.

In *State v. Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that a State may threaten a person with revocation and use of a refusal at trial, and it may impose those civil penalties and evidentiary consequences if the person refuses. The court quoted *Birchfield* for that proposition: "the *Birchfield* court acknowledged that 'prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply." *Id.* ¶ 58 (quoting *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2185.)

And in *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, the United States Supreme Court made clear that what it said in *Neville* remains the law: a person's refusal can be used against him or her in court. *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, 139 S. Ct. 2525 (2019) (plurality opinion). The Court noted that under Wisconsin's implied consent law, "If a driver's BAC level proves too high, his license will be suspended; but if he refuses testing, his license will be *revoked* and his refusal may be used against him in court." *Id.* at 2531 (citing Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4)). The Court said that it had considered OWI laws like Wisconsin's "[o]ver the last 50 years," and it had "approved many of the defining elements of this scheme." *Id.* at 2533. The Court explained that it had held

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 15 of 37

that "forcing drunk-driving suspects to undergo a blood test does not violate their constitutional right against selfincrimination." Id. (citing Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 765 (1966)). And it similarly had held that a person's constitutional right against self-incrimination is not violated by "using their refusal against them in court." Id. (citing Neville, 459 U.S. at 563). The Court in Mitchell then reiterated what it said in *Birchfield*: "Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply." Id. at 2532 (quoting Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2185). Like in Birchfield, the Court in *Mitchell* at least strongly suggested that what it said in those "prior opinions" remains the law. It said nothing that can reasonably be read as saying that it was overruling those prior opinions.

Every one of these Supreme Court opinions, from *Neville* to *Mitchell*, and these Wisconsin Supreme Court opinions, from *Bolstad* to *Dalton*, say the same thing—a State may use a person's refusal to submit to a lawful request for a blood sample against the person at trial. None of these cases has been overruled or even limited with respect to the use of a refusal at trial. There is no United States Supreme Court or Wisconsin Supreme Court case to the contrary. Under these cases, all of which are binding on the circuit court and this Court, a State is permitted to threaten and to impose evidentiary consequences (use of refusal at trial) for a refusal to submit to a request for a blood draw.

B. Levanduski was not coerced into agreeing to a blood draw—she was properly informed that if she refused, her refusal could be used against her in court.

The circuit court determined that Levanduski's consent to the blood draw was involuntary because, according to the court, the officer incorrectly warned Levanduski that a Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 16 of 37

refusal could be used against her in court. (R. 131-2, A-App. 119-120.) The court was wrong. As the previous section of this brief shows, it would have been entirely lawful for the State to introduce evidence of a refusal at trial had Levanduski declined to submit to a blood draw.

After Officer Depies arrested Levanduski for OWI, he read the Informing the Accused form to her and requested a blood sample. (R. 10:2, A-App. 105.) The form reads, as relevant here:

If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court.

Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). The most significant part of this advisement explicitly tells a person that "[t]he test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4).

That information is a correct statement of the law, and it is not coercive. Levanduski was not threatened with a criminal penalty for refusal, so she was not threatened with an unlawful search. Cf. Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2186 (finding a request for a blood sample coercive because a refusal was a crime). She was threatened only with civil penalties (revocation of operating privilege) and evidentiary consequences (use of a refusal in court). That was permissible under the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 2185 (citing *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 161; Neville, 459 U.S at 560); Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 58 (citing *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2185).

After being properly informed of the law and her choices, Levanduski chose to submit to the officer's request for a blood draw. Her consent to the blood draw was not coerced; it was voluntary. Accordingly, the circuit court erred in granting her motion to suppress evidence of her refusal.

Case 2019AP001144 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2019 Page 17 of 37

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