RECEIVED 02-03-2020

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN O COURTOF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP1144-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

DAWN J. LEVANDUSKI,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY VAN AKKEREN, PRESIDING.

OZAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2018CT000238

JOHN T. BAYER Attorney at Law State Bar # 1073928 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

Law Offices of John T. Bayer 735 N. Water Street, #720 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 434-4211 (414) 210-5272 (Fax) jtbayer@bayerlawoffices.com

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

ARGUMENT

Introduction

The United States Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of Wisconsin both have held that a person has a Fourth Amendment privacy right to be free from intrusions into his or her body. Because of this constitutional protection, a person may refuse to submit to a warrantless request from officers of the law for a sample of their blood after arrest for an OWI without apprehension of criminal penalty attaching to this refusal. The State cannot use a person's exercise of a constitutional right against them as evidence of guilt at trial in a criminal court. Allowing the State to even comment on the decision to refuse would eradicate the value of such a constitutional protection.

In the instant case, Levanduski was arrested for a second offense OWI, and was read the Informing the Accused form, which stated that if she refused to provide a blood sample to a requesting law enforcement officer, such refusal would be used against her at trial. This threat having been thrust upon her, Levanduski agreed to provide a blood sample. Levanduski was forced to choose between exercising her constitutional right to refuse a warrantless blood test, thereby facing the prospect of the refusal's being used against her in court, or agreeing to the test. The threat to use her exercise of her constitutional right against her at trial was coercive, thus rendering her consent involuntary.

This Court should uphold the circuit court's order granting Levanduski's motion to suppress the result of her blood test.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a motion to suppress applying a two-step standard of review. *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶7, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189. This Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Eason*, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶ 9, 629 N.W.2d 625. Then, the application of constitutional principles to those facts is reviewed de novo. *Id*.

This Court reviews the voluntariness of consent to a search in a similar manner. *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 23, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. The circuit court's findings of historical fact are reviewed to determine whether they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Then, this Court independently applies constitutional principles to those facts. *Id.*

- I. BECAUSE LEVANDUSKI HAS A CONSTITUTIONAL PRIVACY RIGHT AGAINST BODILY INTRUSIONS BY THE STATE, SHE MAY EXERCISE THAT RIGHT WITHOUT IT BEING USED AGAINST HER IN A CRIMINAL PROSECUTION.
 - A. The United States Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of Wisconsin both have held that even under implied consent laws, individuals have a constitutional right to withhold consent to a warrantless blood draw under the Fourth Amendment right to privacy.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrant shall issue, but upon probable cause[.]" A warrantless search of a person is reasonable only if it falls within a recognized exception. *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 224, 94 S.Ct. 467 (1973). Absent a recognized exception, law enforcement officers must obtain a warrant prior to a search, including procuring a blood sample from a person arrested for OWI. The invasion of bodily integrity that a blood draw entails, impacts an individual's "most personal and deep-rooted expectations of privacy." *Winston v. Lee*, 470 U.S. 753, 760, 105 S.Ct. 1611 (1985); see also *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assn.*, 489 U.S. 602, 616, 109 S.Ct. 1402 (1989).

The case law addressing implied consent laws and the taking of blood from a person arrested for an OWI has developed substantially over the past several years. In light of the large amounts of information that can be adduced from a single blood sample, the United States Supreme Court, as well as state courts, has recognized the need for significant constitutional protections in the context of blood draws.

The U.S. Supreme Court first examined the Fourth Amendment implications of blood draws in OWI cases in Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826 (1966). In that case, the Court rejected the petitioner's claim that use of his refusal to provide a blood sample against him in court was a violation of his Fifth Amendment rights. The Schmerber Court did recognize, however, that a blood draw "plainly involves the broadly conceived reach of a search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 767. A blood test "plainly constitutes searches of a 'person'. . . within the meaning of that Amendment." Id. Noting that "[s]earch warrants are ordinarily required for searches of dwellings, "the Court reasoned that "absent an emergency, no less could be required where intrusions into the human body are concerned." Id. at 770. The importance of requiring that a warrant be issued by a neutral, detached magistrate was "indisputable and great." Id. The Court in Schmerber, came to the conclusion that the natural dissipation of alcohol from a person's blood, represented the destruction of evidence through a natural process, and, therefore, was the type of emergency that would allow police to obtain a blood sample absent a warrant. Id. at 770-771.

However, the notion that the dissipation of alcohol in a person's blood presented a per se exigent circumstance was later rejected in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). Concerned with the need to procure a blood sample in accordance with the protections of the Fourth Amendment, the *McNeely* Court held that when police officers can reasonably obtain a search warrant prior to taking a blood sample, they must do so. *Id.* at 152. The Court explicitly rejected the argument that the application of a traditional Fourth Amendment analysis was not appropriate in such a situation. *Id.* at 160. In holding that a Fourth Amendment totality-of-the-circumstances analysis must be applied, the *McNeely* Court recognized that all defendants, even those suspected of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, have a constitutional privacy right in their blood.

In *South Dakota v. Neville*, 459 U.S. 553 (1983), the U.S. Supreme Court addressed the issue that remained untouched in *Schmerber*: whether the State's use of a person's refusal to consent to a blood draw against them at trial violates the Fifth Amendment. The *Neville* Court held that such use by the State does not violate the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* at 554. In light of the holding in *Schmerber*, the *Neville* Court held that refusal to provide a blood draw may be used against a person at trial without violating that person's right against self-incrimination. *Id.* at 566.

However, the *Neville* decision only addressed the narrow issue of whether the use of a defendant's refusal of a blood test against that defendant in court was a violation of their right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment, not whether the exercise of a constitutional right could be used against that person. In the present case, Levanduski is not making a challenge on Fifth Amendment grounds, but, rather, she is arguing that she has a Fourth Amendment right to be secure in her person and effects. The State argues that the holding in *Neville* also "applies to the Fourth Amendment," (State's Brief, p. 13.) but the *Neville* holding must be seen as limited to a Fifth Amendment analysis. Regardless, the *Neville* holding has been called into question recently by the Wisconsin Supreme Court:

Neville was decided pre-*McNeely* and pre-*Birchfield*. Both *McNeely* and *Birchfield* have had a significant effect on drunk driving law, and highlight the constitutional nature of a blood draw. Both cases analyze breath and blood tests as Fourth Amendment searches and appear to supersede the statement from the Fifth Amendment *Neville* case[.]

State v. Dalton, 2018 WI 85, ¶ 61, n. 10, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120.

The *Neville* Court did posit that a defendant "has no constitutional right to refuse a blood-alcohol test." *Neville* at 560, n. 10. However, this statement cannot mean that a person has *no* constitutional right to refuse a blood test by the present standard. The Court's statement means either that a person does not have a Fifth Amendment right to refuse, as that was the issue before the Court in *Neville*, or recent cases have effectively overruled this holding. Under the Fourth Amendment, however, a person does have a constitutional right to withhold consent to a warrantless search of their blood.

In *McNeely*, the Court weighed the State's interest in combating drunk driving against the rights of the individual. *Id.* at 160-161. Referencing a Review put out by the National Highway Safety Administration (NHSTA), the *McNeely* Court noted that "most States allow the motorist's refusal to take a BAC test to be used as evidence against him in a subsequent criminal prosecution." *Id.* at 161. The Court cited *Neville* in holding that such use was not a violation of the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. *Id.* However, the *McNeely* Court made no holding as to whether or not the use of a refusal at trial was a violation of a Fourth Amendment right, as the issue was not before the Court.

The issue in *McNeely* was whether the dissipation of alcohol from a person's blood represented a per se exigent circumstance, whereas the issue of whether the adverse use in court of a refusal to submit to a blood draw violated a defendant's constitutional right to refuse under the Fourth Amendment was not before the Court.

Three years after *McNeely*, the Court decided *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, and its holding caused a paradigm shift in the analysis of OWI investigations in relation to Fourth Amendment. *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S.Ct. 2160 (2016). *Birchfield* examined whether a person could be criminally prosecuted for refusing to provide a breath or blood sample subsequent to an OWI arrest. *Id.* The Court held that while a warrantless breath test does not implicate Fourth Amendment privacy rights, a warrantless blood test does. *Id.* at 2185. The *Birchfield* Court found that whereas a breath test involves a very minor intrusion on privacy, a blood test involves the piercing of the skin and the extraction of blood from within a person's body. See *Id.* at 2178 (internal citation omitted). Furthermore, unlike a breath test, which only provides blood-alcohol content information, a blood draw may provide a great deal of information beyond blood-alcohol content. *Id.* The Court in

Birchfield concluded "that motorists cannot be deemed to have consented to submit to a blood test on pain of committing a criminal offense." *Id.* at 2186.

The *Birchfield* Court acknowledged that the evidentiary consequences of a refusal were not before it, only whether a stand-alone criminal charge could be levied against a person for refusing a breath or blood test. *Id.* at 2185. The *Birchfield* Court did not cast doubt on the overall soundness of implied consent laws, but at the same time it cautioned that "[t]here must be a limit to the consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to drive on public roads." *Id.* The State concludes that because the United States Supreme Court did not expressly prohibit a government action that was not before it (using a refusal as evidence at trial), that the action must therefore be constitutional. (State's Brief, 31.) This cannot be the case, as to use a refusal to provide a blood sample as evidence of guilt at a criminal trial is not merely an evidentiary consequence, but a way to circumvent the holding in *Birchfield* that a person may not suffer criminal penalties for refusing to provide a sample of their blood. *Birchfield* at 2186.

The State argues that the holding in *Birchfield* is limited only to that a refusal to provide a blood test cannot be a stand-alone criminal charge. This argument ignores the underlying reasons the *Birchfield* Court decided as it did. The reason a refusal to submit to a blood test cannot be criminally prosecuted is because the government may not criminally punish a person for exercising a constitutional right. *Birchfield* made this clear in its distinction between a breath test, in which a person

does not have a constitutional right to privacy, and a blood test, in which a person has a constitutional right to privacy. See *Id.* at 2178 (internal citation omitted).

Since the circuit court's decision granting Levanduski's motion to suppress evidence obtained from testing her blood, the U.S. Supreme Court has affirmed its holding that a person has a constitutional right to the privacy of their blood in *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, 139 S.Ct. 2525 (2019). The issue in *Mitchell* was whether a warrantless blood draw of an unconscious person was constitutionally sound under the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* at 2530. Exigent circumstances are not at issue here. However, the *Mitchell* Court reinforces that, because a person has a privacy interest in their blood, a Fourth Amendment analysis is necessary when obtaining a blood sample from a person: quoting *Birchfield*, the *Mitchell* Court made clear that blood "tests are 'searches.'" *Id.* at 2533 (internal citations omitted).

B. As with any other warrantless search, an individual has the constitutional right to withhold consent when law enforcement requests to perform a warrantless search, even when that individual is suspected of driving while impaired and law enforcement's request is for a sample of the individual's blood.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted the holding in *Birchfield* in *State v*. *Dalton*, 2018 WI 85. In *Dalton*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied the holding in *Birchfield* to situations where a person is not criminally charged with a refusal to

Page 21 of 36

submit to a blood test but nonetheless faces criminal penalties. Dalton was arrested for OWI and law enforcement officers requested he provide a blood sample. *Id.* at ¶ 13. He refused. *Id.* Law enforcement officers nevertheless obtained a blood sample under the exigent circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement and Dalton was ultimately convicted of OWI. *Id.* at ¶¶14, 19. At sentencing, the circuit court explicitly stated that Dalton would receive a higher sentence for refusing to provide a blood sample, informing Dalton, "You don't have a right not to consent." *Id.* at ¶ 21.

On appeal, Dalton argued "that the circuit court impermissibly lengthened his sentence because he refused a warrantless blood draw, thereby violating *Birchfield.*" *Id.* at ¶ 55. The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed thereby rejecting the circuit court's conclusion that Dalton did not have a right to refuse a warrantless search of his blood. The Court held that applying a harsher sentence for an OWI when the person refused to submit to a blood test was unconstitutional. *Id.* at ¶ 67. The Court explicitly held that by refusing to provide a blood sample to law enforcement, the defendant was "exercising his constitutional rights." Id. at ¶ 61. The Court spoke in unambiguous language: a person arrested for an OWI has the constitutional right to refuse a warrantless search of their blood.

The State argued in *Dalton*, similarly as they do now, that because Wisconsin does not make a refusal a stand-alone crime, *Birchfield* does not apply. *Id.* at \P 63. The Court rejected this argument:

The *Birchfield* court recognized that '[t]here must be a limit to the consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to drive

on public roads.' 136 S.Ct. at 2185. The limitation it established directs: no criminal penalties may be imposed for a refusal to provide a blood sample.

Id. at ¶ 66.

Using a person's refusal against them in court to argue they are guilty of a crime falls under the broad definition of a criminal penalty. *Birchfield* and *Dalton* make clear that this is not permissible under the Fourth Amendment.

C. Other states are divided on whether prosecutors may use the fact that a person arrested for an OWI refused to provide consent for a warrantless blood sample as evidence of guilt at trial.

The State has identified a number of other jurisdictions that have reached the conclusion that a person arrested for OWI who refuses to submit to a warrantless blood draw may have that fact used against them at trial. (State's Brief, p. 22.) The State indicates their research could find no other case that held to the contrary. (State's Brief, p. 26.) While the State calls attention to several cases that support its position, there are other cases from outside Wisconsin's jurisdiction that support the opposing position.

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